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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF KANSAS

WAYNE B. HERRMANN, )
)
Raintiff, )
)
V. ) CaséNo.11-1123-RDR

)

RAIN LINK, INC. a Kansas )
Corporation,DENNIS DIXON, )

individually and in his cagity as Officer, Director )

and shareholder in Rain Link, Inc.

SHONDA CHAPA, individually and in her )

capacity as Officer, Dactor, and Shareholder )

in Rain Link, Inc. )
Defendants. )

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER

This case is what happens when a busindasmeship among severphrtners goes bad.
Plaintiff Wayne Herrmann andefendants Dennis Dixon and Shondra Chapa were formerly
partners in a sprinkler and gation business known as Rain Lifkc. (RLI). Plaintiff was
terminated from his employment with RLI in 2009n this action, plainff asserts claims against
RLI under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), 42 U.S§12101 et seq. He alleges
disability discrimination and retaliation urrd@itle | and accommodation discrimination under
Title .  Plaintiff asserts Kansas state lawiohs against RLI for unlawful employment practices
under the Kansas Act Against Discrimination (KAAD), K.S§M4-1001 et seq., and for willful
violations of the Kansas Wadgtayment Act (KWPA), K.S.A§ 44-312 et seq. Finally, plaintiff
alleges Kansas common law claims againsioBiand Chapa for breach of fiduciary duty and
oppression of his rights as a minorgiyareholder. This matterpsesently before the court upon

defendantsmotion for summary judgment.
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Some comments are in order before the tcaddresses the claims and arguments of the
parties. The court is concerned by the delay that has taken place in this litigation. The court may
be at fault for some of that delay, but the coulielbes that much of it is due to the over-litigation
by the parties. The sheer number of pageshaae been generated byetparties reflects this
over-litigation. The conduct of thgarties has unnecessarily consursearce judicial resources.

In noting the over-litigatin by the parties, the court also that parties have also failed to
address certain issues and overlooked argumeseirby the opposing party. With that said,
the court shall turn to the many claims, ssand arguments raised in this case.

.

Summary judgment is appropriate if the plead, depositions, answers to interrogatories,
and admissions on file, together witte affidavits, if any, show #t there is no genuine issue of
material fact and that the moving partyeistitied to judgmetnas a matter of law. Fed.R.Civ.P.
56(c). The requirement of a gene& issue of fact means that the evidence is such that a

reasonable jury could returnvardict for the nonmowig party. _See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby,

Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986). Essentially, thquiry is whether thesvidence presents a
sufficient disagreement to require submission to agurnyhether it is so one-sided that one party
must prevail as a matter of law._ Id. at 251-52.

The moving party bears the initial burden ofmdmstrating the absence of a genuine issue
of material fact. This burden may be met by simgithat there is a laak evidence to support the

nonmoving part{s case. See Celotex Corp. v. Catré?7 U.S. 317, 325 (1986). Once the

moving party has properly supported its motion for summary judgment, the burden shifts to the

nonmoving party to show that there is a genuine isso®aterial fact left for trial. _See Anderson,



477 U.S. at 256. A party opposing a propedggorted motion for summary judgment may not
rest on mere allegations or denials of [its] plegdlvut must set forth specific facts showing that
there is a genuine issue for trial. Id. Theref the mere existence of some alleged factual
dispute between the parties will not defeab#rerwise properly supported motion for summary
judgment. _See id.

When reviewing a motion fasummary judgment, the cowhould keep in mind three
principles. First, the coud role is not to weigh the evidence, but to assess the threshold issue
whether a genuine issue exists as to matexfrequiring a trial. Senderson, 477 U.S. at 249.
Second, the court must resolve all reasonable inferences and doubts in favor of the non-moving
party and construe all evidencetire light most favorable to¢mon-moving party. _ See Hunt v.
Cromartie, 526 U.S. 541, 55885 (1999). Third, the court cannot déeiany issues of credibility.
See Anderson, 477 U.S. at 255.

The court notes that summary judgment is nisfavored procedural shortcutather, it
is an important procedurglesigned to secure thgst, speedy and inexpensive determination of
every actiori. Celotex, 477 U.S. at 327 (quoting Fed.R.Civ.P. 1).

1.

The following facts are uncontroverted. Manhetfacts are disputed. The court shall
consider some of the disputtttts as we consider the argemts raised by the parties.
RLI History and Background

RLI was incorporated in 2000. At the tingd incorporation, the stockholders were
Hermann, Dixon and Mark Marnell, each of whoras issued 100 shares of common stock. The

Articles of Incorporation were filed with the Kansas Secretary of State on November 2, 2000.



RLI was created to take over tlperations of two businesses, S$aSprinkler Service, Inc.
(Stanis) and Rain Pro Irrigation, Inc. (Rain Pro). Stamas owned by Stan Garnett, Dixon and Earl
Peters in 1994. Rain Pro was another company owned b\¢.St&hI continued to do business
as Stafs after RLI was formed.

In 2002, Marnell was terminated as an emp®yf RLI. Marnell sold his stock to
Herrmann pursuant to the terms of a buy-seleagrent between the padieMarnell was fired
when he stopped showing up for work on gutar basis. Dixon had to cover Marngiwork.
Dixon, Chapa and Herrmann made tleeision to terminate Marnell.

Herrmann and Dixon each have been the owokse hundred shes of common stock
from November 2, 2000 to the present. Chaps lbeen the owner of one hundred shares of
common stock of RLI from January 1, 2002 te firesent. Herrmann, Dixon and Chapa have
been the only shareholdersRitl since Marnell soldis one hundred shareEcommon stock to
Herrmann on January 20, 2005, and Herrmann assitpose shares to RLI on February 8, 2005.

Dixon and Chapa have been directors affiderys of RLI since at least October 6, 2003.
Dixon is the president of RLI. Halso is the congiction foreman/supervisor. He makes sure
crews have what they need to do jobs. He supervises crews in the fieltk pBdk seasons are
April to June and October to December. Dixon ithimfield 99% of the time during those seasons.
March and April 2009 were a busy tiraad he worked 16 hours per day.

Chapa was hired by Stanin 1995 to handle all aspects of the office. When RLI was
created, she assumed an active no daily decision-making. Sha#oes not have a job title. She
does accounting and accounts receivable.

When an RLI business decision needeogonade, Dixon, Chapa and Herrmann would get



together in the office and make the decision. Tinage a lot of decisions without calling a formal
directors meeting. They neviead a shareholders meeting.

From at least January 2007 until approxirhadanuary 2009, RLI opated its buimess at
5817 N. Broadway Street, Wichita, Kansas 672B9dadway Offic&). In approximately January
2009, RLI moved its business optons to 3656 South WeSitreet, Wichita, Kansas 67217
(“West Officé).
RLI Buy-Sell Agreement

RLI, by its president Dixon, and Dixon, Marhahd Herrmann, individually, executed a
Buy-Sell Agreement (the Agreement) on November 2, 2000.

Transfers of RLI stock are restricted by throvisions of the Agreement, Section Il
Transfers, paragraphs A through G. The Agreement, Section IlI.D., provides for a sale of stock
upon termination of a shareholtteeemployment with RLI:

Should a shareholder's full-time or sulbsi@ly full-time empbyment with the
Company terminate for any reason otlikan the death or disability of the
Shareholder, such Shareholder shalithim 120 days after such termination,
irrevocably offer (in a written instrumeidelivered to the Company) to sell all
shares of Stock registered in such Shald@er's name to the Company for the price
and on the terms and conditions specifiediiicle IV. The Company shall have 30
days after actual receipt of such offer within which to advise such Shareholder
whether the Company will so purchase ssbhres of Stock. If the Company does
not so elect to purchase all such share&stotk, the Company shall offer such right

to purchase all such shares of Stock lmeihg purchased by the Company to the
other Shareholders as provided in parprg of this Article Ill. If the Company

and the other Shareholders decline piarchase all such shares of Stock in
accordance with the provisions of thisr&gaph F, the option to purchase such
Stock under this Paragraph F shall teraén provided, however, the Shareholder
shall continue to be a party to this Agresrhand shall continue to own such shares
of Stock subject to the terms and proars of this Agreement in all respects.
Normal and customary vacations, sick leave or other permitted leaves of absence
shall not constitute termination of employment hereunder.

Article IV, Section A, Sales Price, provides tifa sale of stock is to be made pursuant to
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any paragraph of Article Ill, except paragraphsmll &, the sales price shall be the current fair
value for such shares determined by agreemérRLI with the sellng shareholder or his
representative, and ifo such agreement can be made withirty days, then at the current value
as determined by three appraisers.

The Agreement was amended by the parntie January 1, 2002. 100 shares of common
stock were issued to Chapa. Chapa agredtieéaerms and conditions of the Agreement and
became a party to the Agreement.

On February 26, 2009, Andrew Thengvall, atgy for Hermman, wrote Jerry Bogle,
RLI's attorney, and requested Ri_stock ledger and RIlsl financial statements for the past three
fiscal years. The stated purpose of the reqwastto determine the fair value of plainsfRLI
stock. The letter further stated that Hermansiréd to sell his stock to either RLI, other
shareholders or a third party. tdmann did not expect he would reman officer of RLI after he
indicated a desire to sell his shares.

On August 28, 2009, plaintlf attorney, Thengvall, sent a letter to Rldttorney, Bogle,
offering to sell plaintiffs stock to the company pursuant tet®m I1.D. of the Agreement. On
September 16, 2009, Bogle, writing on behalfRifl, Dixon and Chapa, replied by letter to
Thengvall, stating;Responding to your lettef August 28, 2009, my cligs would consider an
offer of sale from your clierit.

On October 7, 2009, Thengvall wrote Bogle statiffpu requested that we propose a
specific purchase price for Mr. Herrmasstock in Rain Link, Inc. Mr. Herrmann would sell his
stock back to Rain Link for a purchase price of $330;000.

On February 9, 2010, Bogle wrote to Thengvall communicating an offer from RLI to



Herrmann in which RLI agreed to relieve fifeann of liability as a guarantor for R&ldebts in
exchange for an assignment of Herrmarstock to RLI.  On March 24, 2010, Thengvall wrote to
Bogle on behalf of Herrmann and stated that’Rldffer dated February 9, 2010 was not
acceptable to Hermann. No further offers regarding the purchase of Hesrslaares have been
made by Herrmann, Dixon or Chapa.

Herrmann’s Disability and Medical 1ssues

Herrmann has a permanent spinal cord injtig.is a C5-C6 quadriplegic. He has been a
qguadriplegic since an accidemtcurring on October 23, 1979. #d®ann is paralyzed from his
chest down. He has no movement or feeling in higdiis. He is able to move his arms and hands.
He wears a brace to write. He uses a cospkgyboard and types with his left thumb.

Herrmann attended Wichita State University from 1991 to 1994 and graduated with a
degree in business administration. During tihees he was unemployed from 1979 to 1994, he
received Social Securityghbility and had a medicehrd for his attendant care.

Herrmann began working at Starin May 1994. When he reaah a certain salary at
Staris, Herrmann stopped receiving Social Securisalility benefits andbst his medical card.
From 1994 through 2008, Herrmann was self-sidfitiearning an incomand doing a full-time
job.

Herrmann’s Employment By RLI

Throughout his employment, Herrmann was aplegee at-will. Herrmann was the task
coordinator beginning in 1997. He was respomsitor scheduling jobsnd installations. He
coordinated with general contracs and sub-contractoas project sites. Hebtained permits and

ordered One Call inspections. He communicateth customers regarding installations and



prepared files for billing. He took estimates @ega by RLI salesmen, did pricing and drew up
contracts for residential projectde invoiced customers and gawe permanent file to Chapa,
who input information into the accounting systéthe. also helped order and check out parts.

From the time Herrmann started at S$ahe was provided a telephone with a headset and
a desk that accommodated his wheelchairdétss not need any other special equipment.

After November 2008, Herrmann requested a wdieet ramp at the West Office. No
special preparations were made in March 2@8farding a ramp when Herrmann said he was
coming back. It would not impose an undue hardshifRLI to install avheelchair ramp at the
main entrance to its West Office.

Herrmann’s Absence From Work

In the summer and fall of 2008, Herrmannswzaving trouble witrdecubitus ulcers.
Decubitus ulcers are a compliaati of quadriplegia. They occed on his pelvis, buttocks and
elbow. He did not feel these woungiscause of his paralysis.

Dr. Stephen Olson of the Wound Clinic trehtas ulcers. Dr. Otn would debride the
wounds and he prescribedwound VAC’ machine 24 hours a day 7 days a week that sucked
fluids out of the wounds.

Herrmann was hospitalized from Noveenb3, 2008 to November 11, 2008. On
November 29, 2008, Dr. Olson performed surgeryrtgate and drain the fieelbow abscess and
noted an infection, methicillin-resistant stapigdccus aureus. On December 3, 2008, Infectious
Disease Consultants, P.A. weoDr. Olson and advised Herrmann had developed an infection,
methicillin-resistant staphylococcusraus (MRSA), in all of his wounds.

Herrmann was discharged on December 3, 2008 avithcral decubitus ulcer state 4 with



MRSA, a left elbow decubitus ulcevith MRSA, malnutrition, frequent urinary tract infection and
a history of an intestinal iattion, gastric ulcers and colorpolyps. He was released home for
follow-up with an infectious disease specialisbire month and follow-up with Dr. Olson for his
wounds.

Herrmann was back in the hospital on Debem6, 2008 with a decreased level of
consciousness due to his pain medications #nof ahe other pre-extg problems. He was
discharged again on December 7, 2008 with pnevious home care and medical follow-up
instructions.

Herrmann was followed by Dr. Olson on Janu&ar009 for wound care. On January 21,
2009, Dr. Olson referred Herrmann to Dr. 8chover for flap surgery on his wounds. On a
follow-up visit on February 4, 2009, Dr. Olsondicated that Herrmann was to contact Dr.
Schoonover to arrange flap surgerythe sacral wound and a riggthial wound and continue the
wound VAC in the interim. Herrmann was resistemhaving the surgery even though the doctor
told him it was necessary if he wanted &eg living. Herrmann knew it was detrimental to his
health if he did not have trsargery. From February to November 2009, Herrmann continued to
have decubitus ulcers and refused to have the flap surgery.

On January 28, 2009, Rklattorney, Bogle, sent a letterHerrmann advising that he was
being placed on unpaid medical leave of absebeginning January 16, 2009. Herrmann was
notified he was being placed on unpaid medical leave effective January 16, 2009 due to his
extended time off work.

In February, Herrmann called RLI and requedtet Dixon and Chapa come visit him.

On or about February 24, 2009, Dixon &ltapa visited Herrmann at his home.



On February 26, 2009, Herrmann was admiti@dhe hospital as a result of a drug
overdose suicide attempt. He was admitted for depression and observation for possible worsening
of his mental status. He walscharged on March 1, 2009. Chaywas notified of the suicide
attempt.

During his stay, Herrmann consulted with DrEbpaire for a psychiatric evaluation.
Herrmann reported that he wdacing multiple stressors involwy health, separation from wife,
and work problemsand he wa&grieving his loss of independenteDr. DEmpairés assessment
stated:

AXIS I: Adjustment disorder with mixedisturbance of emotions and conduct.

AXIS I1I: Deferred.

AXIS lll: Quadriplegia involving C5-@, neurogenic bladder with indwelling

suprapublic catheter, Escherichia coli ari tract infection, history of multiple

pressure ulcers with colonization of tiieillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus,
status post intentional overdose, anemia.

AXIS 1IV: Problems with primary supptroccupational problems, economic

problems, problems with access to healthcare providers.

AXIS V: Global assessnme of functioning 51.

Herrmann’sReturn To Work Status

On March 17, 2009, Herrmaisrfamily physician, Dr. kesen, provided an RX fda trial
of work beginning at 4-6 hrs per day.

RLI’s Decision To Terminate Herrmann’s Employment

On March 25, 2009, Herrmann called Chapa and reggi¢sttalk to heabout returning to
work. The particulars of thigonversation are in dispute. Chapa contends that she told
Herrmann to come back to wook March 30, 20®and he saidOkay” Herrmann contends that

he told Chapa that he had been released to come back to work part-time"aadthd to come

back to work; but Chapa told him she needed to speak to Dixon before he could return to work.
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Herrmann said that Chapa said she would callthie following week and she never called back.
Plaintiff did not come in to work on March 30, 2009.

RLI's Employee Manual, Section Ill, Compensation and Performance, states the
companys policy concerning absences from work:

Absence or Tardiness: If you are unable fmoreto work or if you will arrive late,

you must contact the office immediatelyytfu know in advance that you will need

to be absent, you are required to request this time off directly to your supervisor. If

you are unable to personally kcad due to illness or emergency, be sure to have

someone call on your behalf. Absencenir work for two (2) days without

notifying the office will be considered a voluntary resignation.

RLI hired Connie Walls on February 24, 2009. S¥&s hired to work part-time. Walls
was hired to do Herrmartsjob because no one was doing it except Chapa and Harold Schoeffler,
the commercial salesman. Walls worked at plaistiiesk.

No contemporary document was created in April 2009 recording the decision to terminate
Herrmann.

Post-Termination Communications With Herrmann and His Counsel

On April 29, 2009, Herrmans attorney wrote a letter to Rkllawyer. The letter reflects
three telephone calls by Herrmann, one to @apMarch 25, 2009, and calls with Dixon on April
20 and 21, 2009. The letter indicates that on Afrjl2009, while on his way to report to work,
Herrmann received a phone call from Dixon advidttegrmann not to report to work because the
ramp had not yet been congtted. The letter indicatakat on April 21, 2009, Dixon called
Herrmann and told him not to come to wairktil Dixon and Chapa had talked with Rf &ttorney.

Dixon did not tell Herrmann he had been terminated during the calls on April 20 or 21,

2009. Dixon and Chapa met with legal courtseMay 6, 2009. Following the meeting, one of

RLI’s attorneys, Paul McCausland,ledlJay Rector, one of Herrmasrattorneys to advise him
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that Herrmann would not be allowed back to work.
Herrmann’s Post-Ter mination Care and Physical Condition

On April 15, 2009, wound care was provided Dy Stephen Olson to Herrmann. Dr.
Olson continued to prescribe Wound VAC treatment for all wounds.

Herrmann announced to Dr. Olson that he umidlighad stopped using the Clinitron (Air
Fluidized Therapy) bed. D®Olson discussed the possibility afworsening of his condition.
Herrmann was told to get his life affairs inder, including a will and living will and Do Not
Resuscitate orders.

On April 15, 2009, Dr. Olson wrote an R>QK to Return To Work 4/20/09 4-6 hr/day.

Herrmann made a disability report to Soctdcurity and applied for Social Security
benefits in February 2009. He reported he diaabled from working beginning November 20,
2008. He received a determination from Social 8gcgranting him disability benefits. He began
receiving Social Security dibdity benefits on June 3, 2009 the amount 0%$2,351 per month.

He has received those benefits continuously since June 3, 2009.

On March 1, 2010, Dr. Friesen wroté&la Whom It May Concerhletter. The letter stated,
“Wayne has been a patient of mine for sevazatynow and he does have a permanent paraplegia.
At this time he is not able to work and requires some help with self-care, and uses a wheelchair for
mobility purposes.

RLI’s Employment Practices

In 2006, 2007 and 2008, Dixon, Chapa and Herrmann received equal bonuses. In 2009,

Dixon and Chapa each received a bonus of $12,000. Herrmann did not receive a bonus in 2009.

In March 2010, Dixon and Chapackareceived a bonus of $7,500.
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A. ADA--Title I/IKAAD Claims
In this case, plaintiff claims that RLI disgrinated against him because of his disability,
guadriplegia with decubitus ulcers. Plaintifieges the following claims against RLI based upon
the ADA and the KAAD: (1) discrimination by failing to acconouate his disability; (2) denial
of employment opportunities on thasis of his disability wheibterminated his employment; and
(3) retaliation when he opposed an act acpce made unlawful by the ADA and the KAAD.
RLI contends in its motion that it is entitleml summary judgment on all of these claims.
1.  Termination
RLI contends that it is entitled to summary judgment on plamtfaim that he was denied
employment opportunities on the basis of hisadility when he was terminated from Rl
employment discrimination because (1) plaingfhiot a qualified indivdual under the ADA; (2)
plaintiff was not able to perform the essentiaictions of his job, with or without reasonable
accommodation; and (3) plaintiff was notrtenated because of his disability.
The parties have stipulated thpdaintiff is disabled withirthe meaning of the ADA. The
issues before the court are whether: (1)npii&iis a qualified indvidual under the ADA,; (2)
plaintiff is able to perform the essential functions of his job, with or without reasonable

accommodation; and (3) RLI terminateaipkiff because of his disability.

1The same standards and burdens appliesh tdDA claim are also applied to a KAAD
claim. Aramburu v. Boeing Co., 112 F.3d 1398, 1403 n. 8 ¢lifl 1997). The court shall focus
on plaintiffs ADA claims with the undstanding that the coustcomments on the ADA claims
are applicable to plainttf KAAD claims

13



The ADA prohibits covered employers from discriminating ag&msjualified individual
on the basis of disability.42 U.S.C.§ 12112(a). The burden-shifting framework set forth in

McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 79273), applies to ADA discrimination claims.

Carter v. Pathfinder Energy Servs., Inc., 662 F.3d 1134, 1141 G0 2011). Under this

framework, a plaintiff must first establish a parfacie case of discrimination by showing that he
“(1) is a disabled person asfided by the ADA; (2) is qualifi@, with or wthout reasonable
accommodation, to perform the essential functionthefjob held or desired; and (3) suffered
discrimination by an employer or prospeeti@mployer because of that disabilityE.E.O.C. v.

C.R. England, Inc., 644 F.3d 1028, 1638 (14" Cir. 2011) (internal quotation marks omitted).

“In order to demonstrate discrimination, a pldirgenerally must show that he has suffered an
adverse employment action because of the disability. at 1038 (internal quotation marks
omitted).

If a plaintiff establishes his prima facie cadbge burden would shift tfihe defendant] to
articulate some legitimate, nondiscriminatory reason for its ac¢tamthe plaintiffwould then

bear the ultimate burden of showing that [the defenslaptoffered reason is in fact a pretext

designed to mask discriminatién.Carter, 662 F.3d at 1141 (internal quotation marks omitted).
The court has undertaken a thorough review efviist discovery record. This is not the
typical employment discrimination case betwesan employer and an employee. Here, the
plaintiff was part-owner of the business. Assult his views are much more important than the
beliefs or thoughts of a typical employee. He obviphslped to establish certain policies for the
business and his statements abitve duties of his job or thoughtbout the structure of the

business have increased importance.
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RLI contends that the record shows tlelowing concerning whether plaintiff was
qualified: (1) plaintiff was not able to perforhis essential job funciig, even on a part-time
basis from November 2, 2008 to Mar25, 2009; (2) plaintiff failed toeport to work or call in
with an excuse for his absence on March 3092 and RLI had no knowledge of the reasons for
plaintiff’s absence until after April 13, 2009, the datg RLI officers made the final decision to
terminate plaintifis employment and replace him with a nevehand (3) plaintf was not able to
perform the essential functionstat job even after April 13, 2009.

Under the ADA, only individuals who are qualdiéor the job they seek may state a claim
for discrimination. As noted previously, the ADA defiriggalified individualwith a disability as
“an individual with a disability who, with avithout reasonable accommodation, can perform the
essential functions of the employment piosi that such indidual holds or desires42 U.S.C.A.
§12111(8). A qualifiegherson must b&able to meet all of a prograsrequirements in spite of his

handicap. Southeastern Community CollegeDavis, 442 U.S. 397, 406 (1979).

To prove that he was qualified for the tagbordinator positionplaintiff must produce
evidence that: (1) he could perform the esseftiattions of the job or (2) if not, whether any

reasonable accommodation by his employer wouldblenhim to perform those functions.

Davidson v. Am. Online, Inc., 337 F.3d 1179, 1190"(@&. 2003). “Essential functiorisare the
fundamental duties, not thfenarginal functions of the positidn. Id. at 1191. Determining
whether a particular duty fessentidlis a factual inquiry based @anumber of factors, including

but not limited to the employar judgment as to what duties are essential and any written job
description the employer prepared for the position. 42 U$12111(8); Davidson, 337 F.3d at

1191 (Determining whether a particular function is essential is a factual inuir@ther factors
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include (1) the amount of time spent on the palbforming the function, (2) the consequences of
not requiring the incumbent to perform the ftime, (3) the terms of #h collective bargaining
agreement, (4) the work experience of pasumbents in the job, and (5) the current work
experience of incumbents in similar jobs. 29 C.B.R630.2(n)(3).

The issue here is wheth#ull-time” employment was an essiah function of the job of
“task coordinatot. Plaintiff has suggested that theidmance shows that RLI did not actually
require the task coordinator to workllftime. Plaintiff contends that RId admission that
full-time employment iSimportant; not“essentiaf, is fatal to its defense.

The examination of this issue, like many of the issues before the court, is difficult due to
various arguments raised by the parties and the falurae side to respond to the matters raised
by the other side. Despite the difficulties, the court shall jump into an analysis of this issue.

In support of its argument that the positiontagk coordinator was a full-time job, RLI
relies almost exclusively on the testimony of thergltiin his deposition where he stated that the
job of task coordinator require@t least eight hours a day five days a week to get everything
done. Plaintiff, however, disgpes that th position was &ull-time” position for several reasons.
He points to the following: (1) he was allowedaork part-time in that position in 2003 when he
returned from leave; (2) he wé®rced to work part-time prior tdis leave in November 2008;
and (3) the person purportedly hired to replace him as task coordic@aitd not and did not ever
work full-time.”

The court notes that RLI failed to addressaf@ementioned contentions of plaintiff in its
reply brief. RLI simply reiterated that piaiff could not work fulltime. RLI did contend,

relying upon_Cleveland v. Policy Mgmt. Sys. Corp., 526 U.S. 795 (1999), plairgplication
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for disability benefits negateah essential element of his ADA claim that he could perform the
essential functions of his jobRLI suggests that plaintiff hagnored and failed to address his
representation in his social security appl@atihat he was unable to work beginning November
20, 2008.

If the court were to find thahe position of taskoordinator was &ull-time position, RLI
would be entitled to sumany judgment on plaintif§ ADA claim because plaintiff has admitted
that he could not work full-time at the time has terminated. Thug)aintiff would not be

qualified under the ADA because he could not perform the essentials functions of the position.

See, e.g., Brooks v. Lab. Corp. Of Ameri2z@p5 WL 2250827 at *14(Vib.Mo. 2005)(employee
who has a full-time position, but who is only to abledturn to work on a part-time basis, is not

qualified to perform the essentfanction of the full-time position); Nance v. Quickrete Co., 2007

WL 1655154 at * 2-5 (W.D.Va. 2007)(employee who can only work part-time is not a qualified
individual with a disability under hADA if full-time work is essential to the job).

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorabbethe plaintiff, the court believes there
are disputed issues of genuine facts on whéthi+time” employment was an essential function
of “task coordinatot. In reaching this conclusion, the cbig not entirely persuaded that the
evidence offered by plaintiff concerning his pasatment at RLI supports his contention that the
position was part-time. As stated by the Tenth Circuit:

[A] plaintiff cannot use her employer tolerance of her impairment-based

ostensibly temporary nonperformance stential duties as evidence that those

duties are nonessential. To give weitghtsuch a fact would perversely punish

employers for going beyond the minimum standards of the ADA by providing
additional accommodation to their employees.

Robert v. Board of County Commissioners of Brown County, 691 F.3d 1211, 121 Tit10
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2012).

The evidence before the court shows that &ldwed plaintiff to work part-time in 2003
due to the medical problems that arose as a reshis disability. Thesvidence also shows that
plaintiff was “forced’ to work part-time in 2008 becausetbé medical problems that arose as a
result of disability. In each gtance, plaintiff offersio evidence to suppdtte contention that the
job of task coordinator suddenly became a pam-job. RLI has offered evidence that it took
these steps ttallow” plaintiff to continue to work irhis position. As noted above, it would be
wrong to punish RLI for these actions.

The court, however, is persuaded that there is some evidence in the record that the position
was part-time based upon the sedpsent hiring of plaintif6 replacement. RLI has
acknowledged that Connie Walls was hired to replace the plaintiff. RLI has have further admitted
that she was hired part-time and was never naafidi-time employee. These admissions have
some significance even though alltbé facts do not support the cention that she performed all
of the functions of the pdgon of task coordinator.“The question of whether a job requirement is
a necessary requisite to employment initiallpuses on whether an employer actually requires all
employees in the particular position to satisfy the alleged job-related requirenikaie v.

Farmland Industries, Inc., 268 F.3d 989, 993"(@ir. 2001)(citing_Milton v. Scrivner, Inc., 53

F.3d 1118, 1124 (i'DCir. 1995));_see also Davidson, 338BdFat 1191; Robert, 691 F.3d at 1217.

In light of RLI’'s admissions, the court believibgre is evidence in theaard that the position of

task coordinator was not a full-time position. Thus, the court does not find that summary
judgment can be granted to RLI based upon this argument.

RLI, relying upon_Cleveland, Baalso suggested plaintgf application for disability
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benefits negates an essential element of his Al2An that he can perfor the essential functions
of his job. RLI contends thatahtiff has ignored and failed tddress his representation in his
social security applicatiothat he was unable to wobeginning November 20, 2008.

In Cleveland, the Supreme Court consideftb@ legal effect upon an ADA suit of the
application for, or receipt of, disability benefits526 U.S. at 800. Carolyn Cleveland applied for
Social Security Disability Insurance (SSOBgfore filing her ADA suit against her former
employer._Id. at 7989. To determine the lepeffect of Clevelan® SSDI claim upon her ADA
claim, the Supreme Court engaged in a two-paatyars. First, it determined whether, as a legal
matter, a claim under the AD#nherently conflict[s] with an SSDI claim to warrant‘aegative

presumptiot against the ADA claim. Icat 802; see also id. at 8d05. Second, after finding no

inherent conflict, the Court analyzed whether ClevemB&DI claimf‘genuinely conflicted with
her ADA claim so as ténegate an essential element of her ADA clainid. at 80506. Where
genuine conflict exists, the Court held tlaaplaintiff could overcome summary judgment by
offering a“sufficient explanatiohfor any inconsistency. Id. at 806.

The court finds that there sufficient explanatiohfor the inconsistency in the record. In
his deposition, plaintiff explained that he sougla tisability benefits because he was unable to
work at that time. This explatan coupled with his contention in this case that he could perform
the job responsibilities as task coordinator vigll with reasonable accommodations is adequate
to meet the requirements of Cleveland. Plaistifflaim that he can germ his job with a
reasonable accommodation could proemsistent with his disability-benefit application stating
that he could not perform his job without it. eéS@leveland, 526 U.S. 803. The fact plaintiff

claims he is disabled for purpos&disability benefits does not contradict a claim under the ADA.
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The ADA protects persons who can perform thebs with reasonable accommodation, while
Social Security disability does not take into account the need for accommodation.

RLI next contends that the record shows that plaintiff has no evidence that he was
terminated because of his difdy. RLI argues that the ocerd shows that plaintiff was
terminated because he abandoned his job.l fRiggests that the evidence shows he was
terminated because he did not communicate Ritbn and Chapa about his need for leave and his
prognosis for returning to work. RLI furtheprtends that the evidence shows plaintiff was
terminated because it needed soneto perform his job and he did not show up or explain his
absence. They assert they simply followezlwhitten policy contained in the Employee Manual.

Plaintiff contends that héas established a primacie case of ADA discrimination
concerning his termination. He notes there is spute that he is a person with a disability. He
further contends that the second elememitether he is a qualifiedturns on disputed facts
concerning whetheffull-time employment” was an esseintfanction of the job. Finally, he
asserts that there is evidenme support the third ement--that he was discriminated against
because of his disability. Hargues that the direct evidence, as well as the circumstantial
evidence such as temporal proximity between hotgoted activities which include taking leave in
fall 2008, requesting a ramp in February and A2009, requesting a returnwmrk on a part-time
schedule in March and April 20@Gthd RLI's adverse actions whiavere taken between January
and May 2009 satisfy the low hurdler festablishing a prima facie case.

Plaintiff further contends that Risl“constantly shifting, falseand trumped reasons for
terminating [him] and their post-hoc fabricati@f documents to support the terminatiare

sufficient to establish that the reasons offere®blyare mere pretexts for unlawful discrimination.
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Plaintiff points to the following: (1) defendants iaity told him that hecould not come to work
because they did not have a ramp; (2) after they announced his termination on May 6, 2009, they
gave no reason for their action; (3) defendaotsinsel asserts that the defendants had already
determined that he had abandoned his job andgeglhim due to lack of productivity dating back
to Spring 2008 and that he had shown up for work or called isince October 28, 2008 when he
in called on March 25, 2009 and stated he hatease; (4) in July 2009efendant told the KHRC
they had never terminated plaintiff but tha¢ had abandoned hisbj (5) in March 2010,
defendants documented an April 13, 2009 speciatingem which they indicated that plaintiff had
voluntarily given up his empyment based upon his failu® communicate concerning
unexplained absences since being placed on ufgeid on January 16, 2009 and general lack of
productivity when present; (6) s deposition, Dixon said that tdefendants termated plaintiff
because it was RId busy season and they needed someode the job, but later testified that
plaintiff was not terminated because RLI wassy but because he did not report on March 30,
2009; (7) Chapa testified in her depamsitithat the defendant accepted plaifgtifiesignation on
April 13, 2009 and made the deaosito move forward without gintiff; (8) Chapa and Dixon both
testified that they replacedgnntiff by making Walls a full-timeemployee at that time; and (9)
defendants have contended that piffinvas terminated for violating R4 attendance policy.
Thus, plaintiff suggests th#ttere is a genuine disguas to whether defendangsated reasons for
his terminatior-failure to communicate or report wwork and total abandonment of his jeare
pretexts for discrimination.

Once again, the court is not persuaded Ridtis entitled to smmary judgment on this

argument. There are simply too many genuine issifzst that remain in dispute. Plaintiff has
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offered evidence showing that R&Iproferred non-discriminatoryglanations for its actions are
SO inconsistent that a rational factfinder could conclude they are unworthy of belief. Thus,
plaintiff has adequately shown that Rd_teasons for terminating him may be pretextual.

2. Reasonable Accommodations

Plaintiff contends RLI dicriminated by failing to accommodate him and denying him
employment opportunities on the basis of hisadility when it refused to accommodate this
disability. Specifically, plaintf contends that RLI (1) shouldave granted him medical leave
during the four months he was unable to work tuthe illnesses caused, at least in part, by his
decubitus ulcers; (2) should have allowed himvtrk part-time; and (3) should have provided
him with wheelchair ramp to access the West Offi¢eLI contends that theecord shows that it
did not discriminate againstahtiff by failing to accommodateim and denying him employment
opportunities on the basié his disability.

The ADA prohibits a overed employer fronfdiscriminat[ing] aginst a qualified
individual on the basis of disaity in regard to ... discharge @mployees ... [or] other terms,
conditions, and privileges of employmém2 U.S.C§ 12112(a). Actionable discrimination under
the ADA takes many forms, one of which is when an employer fails to provide a disabled

employee a reasonable accommodation. S&elid112(b)(5)(A); see also C.R. England, 644 F.3d

at 1048 {The [ADA] ... establishes a caugkaction for disabled empyees whose employers fail

to reasonably accommodate th&rfguoting_Selenke v. Med. Imaging of Colo., 248 F.3d 1249,

1261 (1¢' Cir. 2001)) (internal quotation marlomitted)); Davidson, 337 F.3d at 1189 ([A]
separate claim of discrimination can be stateder the ADA for failing to provide a reasonable

accommodation).
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The ADA defines‘reasonable accommodattao “includée’

(A) making existing facilities used by emogkes readily accessible to and usable

by individuals withdisabilities; and

(B) job restructuring, part-time or modifi work schedules, reassignment to a

vacant position, acquisition or modification equipment or devices, appropriate

adjustment or modifications of examiimas, training materials or policies, the
provision of qualified readers or interpees, and other similar accommaodations for
individuals with disabilities.

42 U.S.C§12111(9); accord 29 C.F.R.1630.2( 0).

The court is persuaded that genuine issuasaitrial fact remaiwn each of the claims
raised by the plaintiff. The court believes thiiie would be served bgnalyzing each of these
claims. The court has @viously addressed Risl arguments concerning the termination of
plaintiff and the failure to allow him to returnw¥rk on a part-time basis. Those discussions are
equally applicable here. There are multiple genuine issues of fact concerning whetser RLI
stated reasons for taking these actions vpeetextual. Thus, theourt must deny summary
judgment to RLI on these claims.

3. Retaliation

Plaintiff contends that RLI retaliated agsi him for seeking an accommodation of his
disability and return to workollowing his medical leave by terminating his employment. RLI
contends it is entitled to sunary judgment on this claim bec®u(1) there is no causation since
they terminated plaintiff beforlee engaged in any peatted activity; and (2) they terminated him
for legitimate, non-discriminatory reasons.

Plaintiff asserts that he erggd in protected activity befe® he was terminated. He

suggests that the evidence, when viewed in tif& lnost favorable to him, shows that he (1)

requested an accommodation and received amanodation in November 2008 when he went on
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paid leave; (2) engaged in protected agtiah March 25, 2009 when he told Chapa he had a
doctors release to return to work and asked torretun a part-time schedule; and (3) continued to
engage in protected adtiy by repeating his requet return to workrom April 17 through May
6, 2009.

The ADA prohibits“discriminat[ion] against any indigual because such individual has
opposed any act or practice made unlawful by this chagmelinterfere[nce] with any individual
in the exercise or enjoyment of ... any right granted or protected by this chd@t&i.S.C.§

12203(a) and (b). Plaintif ADA retaliation claim is alssubject to the McDonnell Douglas

burden-shifting analysis. To make out a primadagse, plaintiff must show (1) he engaged in a
protected activity, (2) his employ&ok a materially adverse amti, and (3) a causal connection

exists between the protectediaity and the adverse action. Khalik v. United Air Lines, 671 F.3d

1188, 1193 (10 Cir. 2012). To survive summary judgmeplaintiff must show that there is a
genuine issue of material fags to whether the defendanproffered reason for the challenged

action is pretextuati.e., unworthy of belief. _Kendrick v. Penske Transp. Servs. Inc., 220 F.3d

1220, 1230 (16 Cir. 2000). Plaintiff “can demonstrate pretext by showing weaknesses,
implausibilities, inconsistenciescoherencies, or contradictioimsthe employer's reasons for its
action, which a reasonable fact finder ebrdtionally findunworthy of credencé. Richmond v.

ONEOK, Inc., 120 F.3d 205, 209 {i@ir. 1997)(internal quotation marks omitted). Buotere

conjecture that the employer's explanation eteptt is insufficient talefeat summary judgmett.

Etsitty v. Utah Transit Auth., 502 F.3d 1215, 1225"(10ir. 2007)(alteration and internal

guotation marks omitted).

The court finds that plairffi has established a prima faccase of retaliation. The

24



temporal proximity between plainti§f requests for accommodations and his subsequent
termination is sufficient to establish causatioRLI has suggested once again that plaintiff was
terminated for legitimate business reasons. Adh&court finds that genuine issues of fact are
present concerning whether Rd_proffered reason for terminatiepretextual. The court shall
deny RLIs motion for summaryudgment on plaintifé claim of ADA retaliation.

B. ADA--Title Ill claims

RLI contends that plainti® Title Il claim under the ADA must fail because (1) RLI is not
a place of public accommodation and é&)ployees are not covered individuals.

Title 11l of the ADA prohibits any person who os, leases, or operata place of public
accommodation from discriminating against an widlial on the basis of that individual's
disability. See 42 U.S.G.12182(a).

Thus, Title 1ll applies to particular places and persofiEhe place must be ‘@alace of
public accommodatiohand the person must be ‘@amdividual seekingenjoyment of the goods,
services, facilities, privilegeadvantages, or accommodatiooisthe covered place. PGA Tour,

Inc. v. Martin, 532 U.S. 661, 692 (20013&hia, dissenting)(citing 42 U.S.§.12182(a)).
RLI initially argues that its office is not agae of public accommodation because it is not

open to clients and customers. RLI also contends, relying upon Bauer v. Muscular Dystophy

Assn, Inc., 288 F.Supp.2d 281 (D.Kan. 2003), thatrpitiifails to state a claim under Title Il

because he was a co-owner of the RLI and maisseeking the use of its office as a public
accommodation. Plaintiff asserts that Rldffice is a place of public accommodation because it
is a sales and service establigmtn Plaintiff further argues @t RLI's contentions about Title

l1I’s inapplicability to employees lackerit because he brings thigich as a stockholder, not as an
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employee.

The court begins with the issue of whetRéd is a place of public accommodation. Title
lIl and the regulations promulggd to implement it defingplace of public accommodatibas a
“facility, operated by a private entity, whose opera affect commerce and fall within at least
on€ of twelve specified categories. 28 C.F§R36.104. The categories list various private
entities that qualify as public accommodationduding sales establishments. See 42 U.§.C.
12181(7)(E).

Viewing the evidence in the light most favoratuehe plaintiff, the court is persuaded that
RLI is a place of public accommodation. The court reaches this conclusion based upon the
evidence provided by the plaintiff. @htiff acknowledges that most of R&lsales and service
activities occur in the field. Hwever, plaintiff notes that R4 business office is open to clients,
customers and vendors. Plaintiff has offered eviog that some customexscasionally pay bills
or purchase replacement parts at the office and s@mndors make sales visits to the office.
Plaintiff has also indicated that RLI hangs‘aperf sign in a window at its office during business
hours. These facts adequatslyggest that the business offiok RLI is a place of public

accommodation for the purposes of Title lIEee,_e.g., Sapp v. MHI Partnership, Ltd., 199

F.Supp.2d 578, 584-85 (N.D.Tex. 2002)(salesceffivithin model home was place of public
accommodation).

Plaintiff has not challenged the defendsaiebntention that employees cannot assert a Title
lll claim. Rather, plaintiff has argued that he britigis claim as stockholder. He asserts that he
attempted to attend meetings as a stockholder and the barriers at the RLI office prevented him from

entering or exiting the facility. The court notibst RLI has not responded to this argument.
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Accordingly, we are not inclined toamnt summary judgment to RLI on plaintfTitle 11l claim.
V.

The court shall next consider plaintffshareholder claims.Relying on theories of
common-law breach of fiduciary duty and oppressioa wiinority shareholder, plaintiff contends
that defendants Dixon and Chapa owed him fidycduties in their capacities as directors,
officers and majority shareholders. In the pretoaler, plaintiff alleged the illegal actions of
Dixon and Chapa included: (1) placing him on udpmedical leave; (2) terminating his
employment; (3) denying him ti@n on his investment as shareholder; (4) taking excess
compensation from the company; (5) attemptingurchase his shares at an unfair price; and (6)
disregarding the requirements of the Kansap@ation Code and the governing documents of
RLI. In the response to defenddntsotion for summary judgment, plaintiff indicated that
defendants engaged in illegattions by: (1) terminating his employment; (2) denying him a
dividend; (3) compensating themselves excessiy4)ypffering an unfair price for his shares and
(5) excluding him from management. The cahall assume that plaintiff is abandoning his
claims that the defendants \atéd their fiduciary duties byaating him on unpaid medical leave.

Under Kansas law, directors and officers of gpoaation have a strict fiduciary duty to act

in the best interests of the corporation asdstbckholders._See BeckerKnoll, 291 Kan. 204,

208, 239 P.3d 830 (2010Q); Newton v. Hornblowec., 224 Kan. 506, 514, 582 Kan. 1136 (1978).
A fiduciary generally must act #i fairness and in good faitoward the person to whom the
obligation is owed and may nabrvert opportunities or circumstandeshis or her own financial

advantage at the expense of that persoae Bcker, 291 Kan. at 208; Goben v. Barry, 234 Kan.

721, 728, 676 P.2d 90 (1984). There is no dispude Biixon and Chapa, acting together as
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majority shareholders and directors, owed a fidyaikty to plaintiff as a minority shareholder.
Even if the actions of Dixon and Chapa did wimtiate their fiduciary duties, they might
still constitute oppressive conductiAlthough courts differ in their approaches as to what
constitutes‘oppressive conduc¢tsuch conduct usually occurs where the majority shareholder
engages in a series of otherwise legal aefisich effectively prevent the non-controlling
shareholder from participating in the oggon and management of the corporatioAyres v.

AG Processing Inc., 345 F.Supp.2d 1200, 1206 (D.R@64)(citations omitted). In Kansas, the

complaining minority shareholder must overaoitihe business judgmenile not by making
general allegations of unfairnebsit by showing that the majority conduct was otherwise

fraudulent. _Richards v. Bryan, 19 K&pp.2d 950, 964, 879 P.2d 638 (1994)(quoting Sampson

v. Hunt, 233 Kan. 572, 584-85, 665 F.2d 743 (1983)).

After an exhaustive review of the many argums of the parties and consideration of
applicable law, the court determines that genuingeutés of material fact exist as to all claims. No
purpose is served by the court writing a detadledlytical opinion discussing these issues when
there are disputed facts that will necessarily have to be decided by a jury. The court will only
briefly touch on a few of the argunts raised by the parties.

The defendants contend that the facts of thise show that thegid not violate their
fiduciary duties in terminating éhplaintiff because he was fired for abandoning his job and being
a no-show on March 30, 2009. Thus, defendangsieaithat plaintiff was terminated for a
legitimate business reason. Plaintiff counterat tthe evidence fails tshow that he was
terminated for a legitimate business reason. Dlet@grees. For the reass previously stated

in the cours discussioof plaintiff's ADA claim, we must concludedhdispute issues of genuine
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fact preclude the entry of summary judgmenthi® defendants on this claim. The record is not
clear whether defendants had a legitimate reasdrrdwminating plaintiff. Accordingly, the court
must deny summary judgmentttee defendants on this claim.

The defendants next contend that they did naate their fiduciary duties in failing to pay
plaintiff dividends. The defendantontend that plairifiwas not entitled teoonuses or dividends
for 2009 and the subsequent years because he was not contributing to the oprpétability
during those periods. Plaintiféserts that the defendants paieniselves constructive dividends
and denied him his share of the profits.

The court is again not pergsied that the defendants ardied to summary judgment on
this claim. The issue of whether the payouts made by the defendants were bonuses or dividends
and whether those payments needed to also be todlle plaintiff are issues that require a full
examination of the facts. The present recbedore the court does not establish that the
defendants are correct as a matter of law. “Homuses issued by the defendants had some

characteristics of dconstructive dividendl. See Yates v. Holt-Smith, 768 N.W.2d 213,

218(Wis.App. 2009).

The defendants next argue that they did not violate the buy-sell agreement that existed
between the shareholders. They further artha plaintiff cannot olatin the relief he has
requested-dissolution of RLI or, in the alternatyan appraisal of RLI at defenddmtspense and
the purchase of his shares at fair valbecause plaintiff has not stated a claim under Kansas
Corporation Code. The defendsuatssert that RLI is not aosle corporation under the Kansas
Corporation Code and, thus, piaiff cannot assert a claim agat them based upon an allegation

that RLI is a common law close corporation.
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The court finds no support for defendapissition that plaintiff canot assert a claim based
on the contention that RLI ia common law close corporati. The defendants rely upon

Lightner v. Lightner, 46 Kan.App.2d 540, 266 P.3d 53%1(1) for support of their position. The

court believes that the defendaiiave read Lightner too bidig. Although_Lightner hints that
Kansas does not recognize commaon tdose corporations, the cowdtimately fails to so hold.
46 Kan.App.2d at 547. The Lightner court ultinhatsoncluded that a shareholder can bring a
direct action against officers or directors includaigims of self-dealing or breach of fiduciary
duty when the corporation is closely held and ghaintiff can prove tht the action will not
unfairly expose the corporation to a multiplicityasftions, materially prejudice the interests of a
creditor of the corporation, anterfere with the fair distbution of the recovery among all
interested persons. Id. at 552. Lightner doatsultimately distinguistbetween statutory and
nonstatutory close corporations for this purpodéhus, the court does not find, for the reasons
stated by the defendants, thaiptiff cannot pursue the claims asserted here. The remaining
claims involve disputed issues of fact whichmatbe decided on summary judgment.

VI.

Finally, RLI contends that gintiff cannot recover the 20@f®nus by invoking the KWPA.
Plaintiff claims that if the‘bonuse’ paid to the owners are deethwages and not constructive
dividends, then defendants viadtthe KWPA when it failed to pay him his bonus for 2008.
Plaintiff contends that he earned a bonus foeruddr year 2008 payable in March 2009 and that
RLI wrongfully withheld the bonus from im. He further contends that R&lacts were willful.
The defendants argue that plaintiff did not hawntract and was an at-will employment. As a

result, RLI asserts that plaifi was not entitled to a bonus because he was not a full-time
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employee when the bonuses were paid.

Employers must payall wages dueto their employees. K.S.A 44-314. Once all
conditions precedent to earning wages are satisfied, thégaareed and must be paid, even if the
exact amount of the wages cannot be calculateci@ndot payable until sonseibsequent event.

Weinzirl v. Wells Group, Inc., 234an. 1016, 1020-21, 677 P.2d 1004 (1984).

Again, the court finds thadlisputed issues of fact remaio be decidedn this claim.

Accordingly, defendantsnotion for summary judgment oniglclaim shall also be denied.
VI.

In sum, the court shall deny defendantstion for summary judgment. Issues of genuine
fact remain to be determined on each of thenddaalleged by the plaintiff. Thus, these claims
shall be decided by a jury at trial. In making tei@tement, the court believes that all parties to
this litigation would beserved by a fair and reasonable setdat. The court hopes that such a
resolution can be reached but, if not, toart will schedule the matter for trial.

IT IS THEREFORE ORDRED that defendaritsnotion for summary judgment (Doc. #

131) be hereby denied.

I T 1S SO ORDERED.
Dated this 24th day of April 2014, at Topeka, Kansas.

s/ Richard D. Rogers
Richard D. Rogers
United States District Judge

31



